RACHEL MARGUERITE ANDERSON (formerly RACHEL M. RODGERS), an individual

Appellant,

V

I. INTRODUCTION

This appeal involves issues surrounding what plaintiff/appellant Rachel Anderson ("Rachel") asserts were breaches of legal and fiduciary duties by defendants/respondents in their capacities as trustees and lawyers administering a special needs trust established for her benefit.

When she was six years old, Rachel was kicked in the face by a horse. In conjunction with her attorney Richard McMenamin ("McMenamin") settling her personal injury claim for a net amount of \$187,160.66, McMenamin hired attorney William Dussault ("Dussault") to prepare a special needs trust ("The Trust Agreement") for safeguarding the amount Rachel was to receive from the settlement.

The Trust Agreement named Wells Fargo Bank, N.A. ("Wells Fargo") to be the trustee of the trust fund for Rachel. The Trust Agreement further provided for a Trust Advisory Committee ("TAC") to guide Wells Fargo in making distributions from the trust fund. The TAC was comprised of McMenamin and Rachel's mother, Andrea Davy ("Andrea").

Pursuant to The Trust Agreement, the two TAC members had to meet and unanimously agree on distributions from the trust fund, and a TAC member was ineligible to vote on approving a distribution if he or she would receive any direct or indirect benefit from that distribution. In the event a TAC member was ineligible to vote because of such a conflict, Wells Fargo was to be called upon to cast the deciding vote on the proposed distribution.

The Trust Agreement was approved by the Clallam County Superior Court. Wells Fargo then hired Dussault as its legal counsel for purposes of preparing the annual accounting reports to the court. Unfortunately, Andrea was given unsupervised access to the trust fund (and its checkbook) and she made withdrawals, distributions, or caused other losses totaling \$56,873 which directly or indirectly benefitted her. Neither Wells Fargo, McMenamin, nor Dussault monitored nor otherwise protected Rachel against Andrea's misuse of the trust fund nor timely sought restoration of the money improperly used by Andrea for her benefit, notwithstanding their individual duties to Rachel as the trust's sole beneficiary.

Upon becoming an adult, Rachel brought this claim against Wells Fargo, McMenamin, and Andrea for breach of fiduciary duties and against Dussault for legal malpractice. The trial court granted the summary judgment motions of Wells Fargo, McMenamin, and Dussault. Rachel appeals the trial court's dismissal of her claims against those defendants/respondents.

II. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

Assignment of Error No. 1: The trial court erred when it granted the motion for summary judgment of defendant/respondent Dussault.

Assignment of Error No. 2: The trial court erred when it granted the motion for summary judgment of defendant/respondent Wells Fargo.

Assignment of Error No. 3: The trial court erred when it granted the motion for summary judgment of defendant/respondent McMenamin.

III. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 1. Whether the trial court erred when it determined that plaintiff/appellant had failed to demonstrate there was any genuine issue of a material fact in conjunction with her claim against Dussault for legal malpractice as attorney for Wells Fargo but who owed a duty of care to plaintiff/appellant as beneficiary of the trust. (Assignment of Error No. 1)
- 2. Whether the trial court erred when it determined that plaintiff/appellant had failed to demonstrate there was any genuine issue of a material fact in conjunction with her claim against Wells Fargo for breach of fiduciary duties as trustee of the trust fund. (Assignment of Error No. 2)
- Whether the trial court erred when it determined that plaintiff/appellant had failed to demonstrate there was any genuine issue

of a material fact in conjunction with her claim against McMenamin for breach of fiduciary duties as a member of the Trust Advisory Committee.

(Assignment of Error No. 3)

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Substantive Factual History

Ŷ

- 1. Rachel Marguerite Anderson (formerly Rodgers, hereinafter "Rachel"), appellant herein, was born July 25, 1990. When she was six years old, she was kicked in the face by a horse. She was airlifted to Harborview Hospital in Seattle for life-saving surgery (major head trauma) and then transported to Children's Orthopedic Hospital (now Seattle Children's Hospital) where she underwent a series of reconstructive surgeries by a craniofacial plastic surgeon.
- 2. Respondent Richard McMenamin (hereinafter "McMenamin") was hired by Rachel's family to pursue a personal injury claim against the owners of the horse and on August 25, 1997, in Clallam County Superior Court cause no. 97-4-00203-6, the trial court approved a minor's settlement for Rachel in the amount of \$300,000. CP 286, In conjunction therewith, the court also approved the establishment of a special needs trust (hereinafter "the trust") for Rachel in accordance with a document entitled the TRUST AGREEMENT FOR THE RACHEL MARGUERITE RODGERS TRUST (hereinafter "The Trust

Agreement"). A copy of The Trust Agreement was attached as Exhibit 1 to Rachel's trial court complaint and can be found at CP 476-496. McMenamin hired respondent William L. E. Dussault ("Dussault") to prepare The Trust Agreement. CP 346.

- 3. The net amount of the settlement proceeds, after McMenamin's attorney fees and other costs were paid, was \$187,160.66, as is shown in the July 7, 2011 opinion letter of R. Duane Wolfe, CPA (hereinafter "Mr. Wolfe's letter"). A copy of Mr. Wolfe's letter was attached as Exhibit 2 to Rachel's trial court complaint and can be found at CP 497-504. Mr. Wolfe's letter can also be found attached to his February 14, 2012 declaration at CP 123-133.
- 4. In accordance with The Trust Agreement, the net amount of the settlement proceeds (hereinafter "Rachel's trust fund") was entrusted to respondent Wells Fargo Bank, N.A. (hereinafter "Wells Fargo") as trustee of the trust. The Trust Agreement stated "sole responsibility for management and investment of the corpus and income of this Trust shall be vested in [Wells Fargo], as Trustee, with the use and distribution of such disbursements as from time to time may be needed from the Trust subject to the sole direction, discretion and control of the Trust Advisory Committee". CP 480. The Trust Advisory Committee (sometimes referred to herein as "the TAC") consisted of McMenamin and Rachel's

mother, respondent Andrea Rodgers (now Davy, hereinafter "Andrea"), who was divorced from Rachel's father. CP 488. In McMenamin's own words, "I was chosen as a member of the [Trust Advisory Committee] because of my knowledge and experience in assisting persons with disabilities and Andrea was chosen because of her personal interest in the plaintiff's welfare." CP 286. Wells Fargo, as trustee, hired Dussault (and others in his law firm, collectively "Dussault") to be the bank's legal counsel for purposes of preparing the annual accounting reports to the court pursuant to The Trust Agreement. CP 346.

5. By its express terms, The Trust Agreement was to be in the nature of a special needs trust for Rachel and exclusively for her benefit. CP 477-484. Rachel's trust fund was to be "conserved and maintained for the special needs of [Rachel] throughout her lifetime", as the "severity of [her] disability may cause her to require continuing support, assistance and supervision for the remainder of her life." *id.* Because Rachel suffered multiple injuries, it was anticipated all the money in Rachel's trust fund would be necessary to provide for her living needs for the rest of her life. CP 478, 484. As stated in The Trust Agreement, "Rachel is now and will continue to be for the foreseeable future a severely disabled individual." CP 476. "It is impossible to predict what improvement or complications Rachel will experience over the next

twenty years. It is clear that due to the nature and degree of her disability and also because of her youth, [Rachel] is not and will not in the foreseeable future be capable of managing the funds provided in the settlement referred to above." CP 477.

- 6. Rachel's trust fund was restricted and could not be used to discharge the financial and basic support obligations of Rachel's parents. CP 480-483. As trustee, Wells Fargo had a duty to monitor the payments from the trust to ensure all such payments go to the benefit of Rachel. CP 483. Wells Fargo had sole authority and responsibility for investment and financial management of Rachel's trust fund and had all powers and authority of a trustee under the Washington Trust Act (chapter 11.98 RCW). CP 488, 490.
- 7. The two-member Trust Advisory Committee, consisting of McMenamin and Andrea, was solely responsible for determining what discretionary distributions were to be made from Rachel's trust fund. CP 488, 493. Wells Fargo and the two members of the TAC were obligated to meet in person to confer on all matters concerning Rachel's trust fund. CP 494. McMenamin and Andrea each had one (1) vote and no disbursement from Rachel's trust fund could be made absent the unanimous vote of both TAC members. (emphasis supplied) CP 493. However, if any distribution from Rachel's trust fund would bring a direct or indirect benefit to a

member of the Trust Advisory Committee, that member was not allowed to discuss or vote upon the proposed distribution. (emphasis supplied). id. In such event, where a TAC member was disqualified from discussing and ineligible to vote on a proposed distribution from Rachel's trust fund, then trustee Wells Fargo expressly became a member of the Trust Advisory Committee for the purpose of casting the deciding vote. (emphasis supplied). CP 494. As discussed in the next several paragraphs, there were multiple instances of payments from Rachel's trust fund which directly and indirectly benefitted Andrea and which violated The Trust Agreement's express restrictions on distributions.

8. On August 25, 1997, the day the court approved the settlement and implemented The Trust Agreement, Rachel was barely seven years old. Before she reached the age of nine in 1999, the sum of \$13,897.64 of Rachel's trust fund had already been spent by Andrea to buy and insure a brand new 1997 Mercury Tracer sedan (fn 1)

I Andrea had told Wells Fargo that she purchased a minivan and did not disclose she actually bought a "sporty" car. CP 58, 128, and 135. Prior to this purchase, Andrea's family car had always been an "old beater" (CP 58, 135). Andrea told her own mother, Janet Aiken, that "everything was now coming out of Rachel's trust money and "I [Andrea] don't have to pay for anything, just like this car." CP 135. Additionally, Andrea acknowledged receiving an under-the-table cash "kick back" from the dealer when she purchased the car. id. In 2005, Andrea used \$469.81 of the trust fund to purchase another new set of tires for the Mercury Tracer, and charged the trust \$421.80 to insure the car, even though Rachel had moved out of Andrea's home in 2004 (to reside with her father) and thus any further use of the car would not have benefitted Rachel. CP 59, 131-133. In 2007, Andrea purchased the car from The Trust for \$2,000. CP 59, 126, 128.

plus nearly \$300 of Rachel's trust fund was spent to upgrade this car with a new set of "better" tires. CP 58, 128, 135. In addition, more than \$1,000 had been reimbursed to Andrea for alleged travel expenses to take Rachel to medical appointments (fn 2) and Wells Fargo Bank was paid \$3,727.99 in trustee fees. CP 132-133.

·

9. In 2000, before Rachel reached the age of ten, an additional \$2,800 of Rachel's trust fund had been spent for computer hardware and software (but with no internet access in Rachel's home) which enabled nine year old Rachel as well as her six year old brother to play one of only a couple computer games (circa 2000). CP 59-60, 128-129, and 136. However, even more egregious that year was Andrea's withdrawal of \$33,000 from Rachel's trust fund money which Andrea used to help purchase an interest in a different home to be titled in the sole name of Andrea's current paramour at the time, Joe Lancaster. The recorded title to this property did not reflect in any way that this investment of Rachel's trust fund was held in the name of the trust. CP 129.

² Andrea charged (and the defendants/respondents evidently approved) a fee of \$100 every time she allegedly took Rachel to medical appointments. CP 58, 128, 133, and 135. However, all of Rachel's post-injury reconstructive and cosmetic surgeries had been completed by August 1997, prior to the court's approval of The Trust Agreement. CP 57, 135-136. Any medical appointment to which Andrea drove Rachel would have only been to Rachel's family practice doctor in Sequim, no more than 15 minutes from her home. CP 57-58, 135. The only time Rachel had to return to be seen by an out-of-town medical specialist was after Rachel turned 17 years old and had moved back to her father's home. It was her paternal grandmother who took her to Seattle for that final medical evaluation by her surgeon. CP 57, 135-136.

The trustee's fee that year for Wells Fargo's monitoring of trust expenditures by the TAC was \$1,981.77. CP 133.

Fargo charged another \$1,810.84 in fees, but the bank and McMenamin, as the only eligible voting members of the TAC, apparently expressed no objection to Andrea spending \$1,500 from the trust fund for "birthday gifts and remodeling" which included buying Rachel (and the other members of the household) an above-ground swimming pool, a guitar (which Rachel was not allowed to keep when she later moved to her father's residence), and new carpeting for the house still exclusively titled in Joe Lancaster's name. CP 131, 133. Throughout the years during which \$33,000 of the trust fund was "invested" in that house without the trust fund being named on the legal title, the trust was never paid any rent or otherwise compensated by Rachel's mother or Mr. Lancaster for the use of that money (fn. 3). CP 130.

³ Andrea's relationship with Lancaster was short-lived and Andrea and Rachel moved out of the house and back into the home of Walt Davy. CP 61. In 2002, Lancaster was compelled to deed a 31% portion of the property to the trust. The property was sold in February of 2005 and the trust received net sale proceeds of \$41,686 for its percentage interest. During a majority of the time the trust was a part owner of the property, Rachel lived elsewhere. Mr. Wolfe calculated the trust in fact lost \$20,195 by not receiving rent and interest from the property prior to its sale. CP 130.

Fargo was paid an additional trustee fee of \$2,764.96, Andrea reimbursed herself \$1,840.81 to maintain and insure her Mercury Tracer automobile, and another \$2,630.10 of Rachel's trust fund had been allegedly spent for additional new computer hardware and software (fn 4). CP 58-60, 128-129, 133, and 136. However, no new computer was brought into the home at that time and Rachel believes this \$2,630.10 was another "phantom" expense by Andrea for which she reimbursed herself with a payment from the trust checkbook without any scrutiny by Wells Fargo and McMenamin as the only eligible voting members of the TAC or by Dussault when he reviewed Wells Fargo's accounting and prepared the annual report to the court. CP 58-60, 136.

1

12. In 2002, a week before Rachel turned twelve years old, McMenamin resigned as a member of the Trust Advisory Committee (fn 5). CP 288. Prior to that resignation, there had been improper trust fund withdrawals, distributions, and other losses which directly or indirectly benefitted Andrea in the amount of \$56,873, plus \$10,285.56 for trustee

⁴ Andrea continued to use the trust checkbook to pay for household internet access even after Rachel moved back to her father's house. CP 58, 136.

⁵ On July 11, 2003, Judge Ken Williams dissolved the TAC and Wells Fargo became the sole trustee. CP 347.

fees, and an additional \$4,735.83 of legal bill payments to Dussault. CP 132. All of these withdrawals, distributions, and losses, which in the aggregate totaled \$68,711.24 (or nearly 37%, of the original net settlement proceeds which initially funded the trust), presumably were the result of a unanimous vote of the TAC consisting of both McMenamin and Wells Fargo, sitting as a voting member due to the obvious conflict of Andrea who, being in a position to either directly or indirectly benefit by those proposed distributions, had been deemed ineligible to vote by Wells Fargo and McMenamin. And for this and prior years, Dussault, the author of The Trust Agreement, reviewed Wells Fargo's account records and prepared and presented to the court this record of withdrawals, distributions, and losses from Rachel's trust fund without any prior notice to Rachel (fn.6), or anyone else on her behalf, including a guardian ad litem, who might have had the opportunity to scrutinize these distributions and appropriately bring them to the court's attention (fn.7).

⁶ Respondents will likely assert that beginning in August of 2001, Rachel (as an 11 year old) was effectively "represented" by her current lawyer, Carl Gay (who had corresponded with Dussault on behalf of Rachel's father and her maternal grandmother), and thus cannot now challenge the court's approval of the annual reports and accountings presented by Dussault. Rachel will address this anticipated issue in her reply brief.

⁷ As pointed out by Mr. Wolfe, the total amount of legal and trustee fees from 1997 to 2009 was \$41,686, while during that same period the trust fund had net income of only \$31,669. CP 132. Mr. Wolfe goes on to state that Dussault's annual reports to the court "were simply a rehashing of the final report prepared by [Wells Fargo] and had Dussault performed detailed report preparation some of the above noted problems would have come to light. CP 131. Mr. Wolfe also noted, with regard to Dussault's charges for additional attorney fees of over \$4,4000 in 2003, there "was no detail available to determine what these fees were paid for. For other excess billings, there were detailed statements available with the annual reports." id.

13. Rachel attained the age of eighteen on July 25, 2008. Prior to her 21st birthday, Rachel brought this breach of fiduciary duty action against Wells Fargo, as trustee, and against McMenamin and Andrea, as members of the Trust Advisory Committee. In addition, she brought an action against Dussault for legal malpractice as Wells Fargo's lawyer but who owed fiduciary duties to Rachel as the sole beneficiary under The Trust Agreement.

B. Procedural History

- 1. Rachel filed her PLAINTIFF'S COMPLAINT FOR LEGAL MALPRACTICE AND BREACH OF FIDUCIARY DUTIES on July 22, 2011. CP 470-475. In her complaint, Rachel alleged Wells Fargo, McMenamin, and Dussault (collectively "the defendants"), and each of them, owed fiduciary and other legal duties to Rachel as the beneficiary of the trust, that the defendants, and each of them, failed to discharge their fiduciary and other legal duties to Rachel as the beneficiary of the trust as more particularly set forth in Mr. Wolfe's letter (CP 497-504). As a proximate cause of the breach of fiduciary and other legal duties owed to Rachel by the defendants, Rachel suffered damages in an amount to be proven at trial. CP 473-474.
- McMenamin filed his ANSWER OF DEFENDANTS
 McMENAMIN on September 6, 2011. CP 465-469. Wells Fargo filed its

ANSWER AND AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSES TO COMPLAINT FOR LEGAL MALPRACTICE AND BREACH OF FIDUCIARY DUTIES on October 7, 2011. CP 458-464. Dussault filed his DEFENDANT DUSSAULT, BERNER AND BYRAM'S ANSWER, AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSES AND COUNTERCLAIM on October 26, 2011. CP 455-457.

- 3. Motions for summary judgment were filed respectively by Dussault (CP 452-453), McMenamin (CP 321-343), and Wells Fargo (CP 143-166). Rachel filed a brief in opposition to the motions (CP 83-93). Reply briefs were filed respectively by Dussault (CP 24-31), McMenamin (CP 45-55), and Wells Fargo (CP 32-44).
- 4. A hearing to consider the three (3) summary judgment motions was held on February 24, 2012, before The Hon. Jay B. Roof, Judge. The court issued its ORDER ON MOTION on February 28, 2012. Rachel timely filed her NOTICE OF APPEAL on March 28, 2012. CP 14-15.

V. ARGUMENT

A. Summary of Argument.

The trial court erred in granting the summary judgment motions of Dussault, Wells Fargo, and McMenamin.

With regard to Rachel's claim against Dussault for legal malpractice, Rachel established that Dussault owed her a duty as a

non-client under the multi-factor test of *Trask v. Butler*,123 Wash.2d 835, 872 P.2d 1080 (1994). Rachel produced substantial evidence that Dussault breached his duties and that she suffered damages as a proximate cause thereof. Dussault offered no independent expert testimony to rebut the expert opinion evidence of Gary Colley, Esq., who opined that under *Trask* and its progeny, Dussault owed a duty to Rachel as an intended and incapacitated beneficiary of the special needs trust and further opined Dussault breached that duty.

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