COURT OF APPEALS
DIVISION II

2012 AUG -6 AM 9: 05

No. 43280-3-II

STATE OF WASHINGTON

WASHINGTON STATE COURT OF APPEAL DIVISION II

DEPUTY

## RACHEL MARGUERITE ANDERSON (formerly RACHEL M. RODGERS), an individual

Appellant,

v.

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

#### V. ARGUMENT

### A. The Facts Cited By Anderson Are Not Supported By The Record And Are Irrelevant To This Appeal.

1) Anderson's Statements Are Not Supported By The Record.

The Rules of Appellate Procedure require Appellant's brief to include a Statement of the Case, setting forth "[a] fair statement of the facts and procedure relevant to the issues presented for review, without

**statement.** RAP 10.3(5) (emphasis added). Under Washington law, contentions in the brief will be disregarded where they are not supported by references to the record. Housing Authority of Grant County v. Newbigging, 105 Wn. App. 178, 19 P.3d 1081 (2001); Bruce v. Bruce, 48 Wn.2d 229, 292 P.2d 1060 (1956).

In her appellate brief, Anderson makes several factual statements that are unsupported by the record. In each such instance, Anderson fails to provide a proper citation or any citation at all to the record, in violation of RAP 10.3.

Most egregiously, Anderson contends that Andrea was entrusted with un-monitored control of the Trust's bank account and checkbook and made payments using that checkbook without any scrutiny by Wells Fargo. App. Br. at 11 fn. 4 (citing CP 58-60, 136), 27 (no citation provided), and 29 (no citation provided). None of these statements are supported by the record, including the portions of the Clerk's Papers cited by Anderson—her own declaration and the declaration of her grandmother, submitted in opposition to Wells Fargo's motion for summary judgment.

In addition, in her Statement of the Case, Anderson contends that "[a]s trustee, Wells Fargo had a duty to monitor the payments from the

at 7 (citing CP 483). To support this argumentative statement, Anderson cites to page 8 of the Trust Agreement, which contains no such language. CP 483. To the contrary, the Trust Agreement expressly provides that the TAC "shall be solely responsible for deciding what discretionary distributions shall be made from the Trust." CP 488. Until the TAC was dissolved in June of 2003, Wells Fargo's role as Trustee was limited by the Trust Agreement to "investment and management of the Trust estate." Id.

Anderson also states that when a TAC member was disqualified from discussing and ineligible to vote on a proposed distribution from the Trust fund, then Trustee Wells Fargo expressly became a member of the Trust Advisory Committee for the purposes of casting the deciding vote. App. Br. at 8 (citing CP 494) and 12 (no citation provided). Anderson cites the Trust Agreement, page 19 for this proposition. The portion of the Trust Agreement cited by Anderson provides that, under certain circumstances, the Trustee shall be called upon to cast the deciding vote on a specific proposed distribution. CP 494. The Trust Agreement does not provide that Wells Fargo can automatically become a member of the TAC, and Wells Fargo was never a member of the TAC.

Furthermore, Anderson's brief states that Andrea Davey "had been deemed ineligible to vote by Wells Fargo and McMenamin." App. Br. at 12. This is simply false, and certainly unsupported by the record or any citation thereto by Anderson.

Anderson's Statement of the Case also states that prior to Richard McMenamin's resignation from the TAC in 2002, "there had been improper trust fund withdrawals, distributions, and other losses which directly or indirectly benefitted Andrea...." App. Br. at 11. Under RAP 10.3, such a conclusory, unsupported and argumentative statement is inappropriate in the recitation of facts and should be disregarded by the Court.

Anderson also claims, for the first time on appeal, that the expenditures she disputes are not supported by "any records of approval by the Trust Advisory Committee." App. Br. at 27. This assertion is not cited nor is it supported anywhere in the record. In fact, there is no indication that Anderson made any attempt to obtain copies of such records. Furthermore, even if Anderson had tried to obtain such records and failed, she provides no authority for the proposition that the TAC was required to maintain such records.

Anderson also states that Dussault failed to provide her or anyone else on her behalf with notice of "withdrawals, distributions, and losses

from Anderson's trust fund." App. Br. at 12. Anderson again fails to support this assertion with any citation to the record. In fact, the record directly contradicts this statement, as each accounting report through 2003 explicitly states that the Trustee has provided quarterly statements to all TAC members. CP 209, 215, 228, 234. Thus, as a member of the TAC, Anderson's mother and natural guardian, Andrea Davey, was provided with regular statements of the Trust fund's accounts on Anderson's behalf.

Self-serving statements in the appellate brief that were unsupported in the record are not to be considered on appeal. Housing Authority of Grant County v. Newbigging, 105 Wn. App. 178, 19 P.3d 1081 (2001). Accordingly, Wells Fargo respectfully submits that the above statements

Anderson's Brief implies, in passing, that she should have been provided with a guardian ad litem. App. Br. at 12. However, appointment of a guardian ad litem is within the discretion of the Court. RCW 11.96A.160 ("The court, upon its own motion or upon request of one or more of the parties, ... may appoint a guardian ad litem to represent the interests of a minor") (emphasis added); In re Guardianship of Matthews, 156 Wn. App. 201, 210, 232 P.3d 1140 (2010). In fact, the trial court properly exercised its discretion in not appointing a guardian ad litem for Anderson because her interests were being represented by her natural guardian—her mother, Andrea. Washington courts have long recognized that a minor's mother, as a natural guardian, may represent the minor's interests in legal proceedings. Bartlett ex rel. Bartlett v. Rieger, 167 Wn. 2d 1018, 224 P.3d 773 (2010); Black v. Motel 6 Operating LP, 140 Wn. App. 1041 (2007); Hegel v. McMahon, 136 Wn. 2d 122, 960 P.2d 424 (1998); Sheimo v. Bengston, 64 Wn. App. 545, 825 P.2d 343 (1992). Throughout the Trust account approval proceedings, in the absence of any indication of unfitness, the Court deemed Anderson's interests adequately represented by her mother, and properly exercised its statutory discretion not to appoint a legal guardian in lieu of Anderson's natural guardian.

should be disregarded by this Court.<sup>2</sup>

2) To The Extent The Facts Cited By Anderson Are Supported In The Record, They Are Irrelevant To The Adjudication Of Appellant's Claim Against Wells Fargo, Which Is Barred As a Matter Of Law.

The vast majority of the purported facts cited by Anderson in her brief were brought to the attention of Wells Fargo and the Court for the first time in February of 2012, when they were referenced in Anderson's opposition to Wells Fargo's summary judgment motion. CP 041. Most of these assertions are inadmissible hearsay. However, even if these assertions were admissible and true, they are not material to the resolution of Anderson's claim against Wells Fargo.

Anderson points out that Wells Fargo did not offer any expert testimony to rebut the declaration submitted by Duane Wolfe, CPA, who documented Wells Fargo's alleged breaches and Anderson's alleged damages. App. Br. at 15. First, Mr. Wolfe's testimony is largely inadmissible because it contains legal opinions which Mr. Wolfe, as a CPA, is not qualified to supply. Second, to the extent Mr. Wolfe has itemized and valuated Anderson's alleged losses, none of the items documented by Mr. Wolfe are material to the disposition of Anderson's

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> RAP 10.7 provides that this Court may, in its discretion, order Appellant's brief (1) "returned for correction or replacement within a specified time, (2) order the brief stricken from the files with leave to file a new brief within a specified time, or (3) accept the brief." RAP 10.7. The Court may also impose sanctions on a party or counsel who fails to comply with the Rules of Appellate Procedure. <u>Id.</u>

claim against Wells Fargo for the simple reason that such losses are barred as a matter of law.

As set forth in Section V(B), <u>infra</u>, Anderson's claim for breach of fiduciary duty against Wells Fargo is barred by one or more of the following: the TAA, the terms of the Trust Agreement and the doctrine of *res judicata*. Anderson's appellate brief does not address any of these three issues, despite the fact that Wells Fargo's motion for summary judgment was primarily predicated on them.

Anderson does not dispute any of the facts that support Wells Fargo's argument that her claims are barred as a matter of law. Accordingly, the trial court's grant of summary judgment in favor of Wells Fargo was proper and should be affirmed.

# B. The Trial Court Properly Granted Summary Judgment Because Anderson's Claims Against Wells Fargo Are Barred as a Matter of Law by the Trustees' Accounting Act, the Express Terms of the Trust Agreement And/Or the Doctrine of Res Judicata.

1) Anderson's Claims Are Barred By The Trustees' Accounting Act Because The Purchases At Issue Were Approved By The Court And No Timely Challenge Was Brought.

Anderson's claim against Wells Fargo is subject to the Washington Trustees' Accounting Act, RCW 11.106, et seq. (the "TAA").<sup>3</sup> The TAA

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Appellant apparently no longer disputes this legal truism, conceding in her brief that Wells Fargo and the Dussault Firm had an "obligation to produce an annual report." App. Br. at 29.

requires Trustees to provide Trust beneficiaries with regular accountings, and provides a mechanism for judicial review and approval of those accountings. Section 11.106.070 of the TAA states:

[t]he court without the intervention of a jury and after hearing all the evidence submitted shall determine the correctness of the account and the validity and propriety of all actions of the trustee or trustees set forth in the account, including the purchase, retention, and disposition of any of the property and funds of the trust, and shall render its decree either approving or disapproving the account or any part of it, and surcharging the trustee or trustees for all losses, if any, caused by negligent or willful breaches of trust.

RCW 11.106.070 (emphasis added). The TAA further provides that

[t]he decree rendered under RCW 11.106.070 shall be deemed final, conclusive, and binding upon all parties interested including all incompetent, unborn, and unascertained beneficiaries of the trust subject only to the right of appeal under RCW 11.106.090.

RCW 11.106.080 (emphasis added). Under RCW 11.106.090, a party in interest may appeal from a decree rendered under RCW 11.106.070 "as in civil actions to the supreme court or the court of appeals of the state of Washington." RCW 11.106.090. Under RAP 5.2, generally, a notice of appeal must be filed in the trial court within "30 days after the entry of the

decision of the trial court that the party filing the notice wants reviewed." RAP 5.2.

Interpreting this language, the Washington Court of Appeals has unequivocally held that once an account has been approved by the court and the statutory period under RCW 11.106.090 has expired, the Trust beneficiary is precluded from contesting any matter within the subject account. See, e.g., Barovic v. Permberton, 128 Wn. App. 196, 114 P.3d 1230 (2005). The express and unambiguous language of the statute renders its preclusive effect applicable to beneficiaries who were incompetent, and even unborn, at the time of court approval of the account. RCW 11.106.080.

In <u>Barovic v. Pemberton</u>, <u>supra</u>, the Trustee inadvertently charged principal mortgage payments on Trust property against the Trust's income account. Between 1999 and 2004, the Trustee submitted annual accounts pursuant to the TAA. <u>Barovic</u>, 128 Wn. App. at 198. Each of these annual accounts was approved by the court, and the beneficiary did not appeal. <u>Id.</u> In 2004, the Trustee realized her error, filed a corrected account and reimbursed the Trust's income account. <u>Id.</u> at 199. The court approved the corrected account, but further ordered that the principal account credit the income account for \$11,409.04 in interest. <u>Id.</u> The Trustee appealed on the grounds that previous accounts were approved by

the court and not appealed by the beneficiary, rendering them "final, conclusive and binding." <u>Id.</u> at 200. The appellate court agreed, holding that an appeal from the lower court's decree approving an annual account is the beneficiary's sole remedy, and that once the time to appeal expires, "the decree becomes irrefutable, requires submission, and cannot be altered or undone." <u>Id.</u> at 201.

In this case, as in <u>Barovic</u>, the Trust beneficiary seeks to undo court decrees approving annual accounts dating back to 2000.<sup>4</sup> Since no appeal was taken from these decrees, under RCW 11.106.090, these decrees are now final, irrefutable and cannot be altered or undone. <u>Id.</u>; <u>see also In re Cooper's Estate</u>, 39 Wn. 2d 407, 411, 235 P.2d 469, 471 (1951). Accordingly, Anderson's claim against Wells Fargo fails as a matter of law, and the trial court properly granted Wells Fargo's motion for summary judgment.

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Anderson disputes the funds expended on the purchase, licensing, maintenance and insurance of the vehicle which was to be used to transport her to and from medical appointments, and computer hardware and software intended for Anderson's education and entertainment. All of these purchases were made between 1998 and 2003 at the direction of the TAC, documented in the accounting reports filed with the court, and approved by order of the court. Anderson also disputes the purchase of real estate in or about 2000, and its subsequent sale in 2005, both of which also were court-approved.

2) Anderson's Claim Is Also Independently Barred By the Terms of the Trust Agreement Because No Timely Objection Was Raised to the Trustee's Account Statements Detailing the Subject Purchases.

Article IV (h) of the Trust Agreement provides as follows:

The assent to the Trustee's annual statement by the beneficiary or, if the beneficiary is not of full age and legal capacity, by a parent, legally appointed guardian, guardian ad litem, or other personal representative of the beneficiary, or the failure of such person to object to an account statement within 30 days of receipt thereof, shall operate as a full discharge of the Trustee by the beneficiary as to all transactions set forth in such annual statement.

Trust Agreement, Art. IV (h) (emphasis added).

At the time the purchases at issue were authorized, Anderson was living with her mother, Andrea Davey. CP 498 ("During the majority of the existence of the trust, Anderson resided with her mother...."). As Anderson's natural guardian and a member of the TAC until 2003, Ms. Davey participated in the TAC's decisions regarding Trust distributions and was provided quarterly account statements by the Trustee. CP 209, 215, 228, 234. Ms. Davey never raised any objections to any of the Trustee's reports.

Anderson's biological father and grandmother have admitted that they did not have standing to object to the Trustee's accounting reports.

CP 091. However, even if they did have standing, they did not raise their

objections until August 27, 2001. CP 220-21. By this time, the Court had long since approved the majority of the purchases and expenses contested in the instant action, including purchases of the vehicle, real estate, computer hardware and software, travel expenses and professional fees. CP 209-19.

Moreover, the Dussault Firm responded to Mr. Gay's letter, attempted to address his concerns, and provided Mr. Gay with a copy of its next accounting report, which was filed with the Court on or about December 6, 2002. CP 206, 228-33, 234. A notice of hearing was issued to all concerned, including Mr. Gay. CP 234. At the hearing on June 24, 2003, the Court approved the report. CP 207, 235-36.

The next three reports were filed and again approved by the Court for the years 2004 through 2006. CP 207.

On November 30, 2009, after Anderson reached the age of majority, the Dussault Firm forwarded a copy of the next annual report and petition for approval directly to Anderson. CP 207. Anderson raised no objections, and the Court approved the report on December 4, 2009. Id.

Accordingly, under the express terms of the Trust Agreement,

Anderson and her parents have waived her right to bring the instant action

against Wells Fargo, and the trial court's summary judgment in favor of Wells Fargo in the action should be affirmed.

3) Anderson's Claim Is Also Barred By Res Judicata Because The Court's Account Approval Proceedings And The Instant Action Are Identical With Respect To The Subject Matter, Claims, And The Identity And Quality Of The Person On Whose Behalf The Claims Were Brought.

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